STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED
May 28 2026
SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Sumter County

Honorable Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

TRAVON DERRELL RAGIN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2025-000444

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Senior Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Is *State v. Orr*, 128 S.C. 279, 122 S.E. 771 (1924), still good law such that a defendant need not object to an unconstitutional comment on the facts in order to challenge the jury charge on appeal?
2. Did the trial court err by allowing a detective to speculate about the movements of the victim and assailant at the time of the shooting?
3. Did the trial court err by allowing a detective to give his opinion about the location of the shooter and victim based on shell casings where he was not qualified as an expert in crime scene reconstruction?
4. Did the trial court err in allowing a detective to testify he arrested appellant "as a result of" interviewing two codefendants, thereby introducing hearsay by implication?
5. Did the trial court err by allowing a detective to testify about the nature of the victim's wounds expressly based on the hearsay findings of the forensic pathologist?
6. When considered together, did these errors prejudice appellant at trial and did the trial court err by denying his motion for a new trial based on the cumulative errors made during trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Sumter County grand jury on May 6, 2021, for murder, armed robbery, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. p. 318. He proceeded to trial before Judge Clifton Newman and a jury on February 24–26, 2025. He was represented at trial by Elaine Cooke. R. 1. Ernest Finney, III, represented the state. R. 1.

After an *Allen* charge, the jury convicted him on all counts. R. 301:17-303:14, 306:5-22. The trial court issued a life sentence for the murder charge and a thirty-year sentence for the armed robbery. R. 314:14-20.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Tenika Ragin¹ testified at trial that on April 3, 2020, she was outside her house with Sherrod Smith in his car. R. 38:2-39:10. She was in the passenger seat; Smith was in the driver's seat. R. 39:22-40:8. Smith had arrived shortly before midnight, and they spoke for several hours. R. 42:15-24. Around 3:00 a.m. someone opened the driver's door, Tenika saw a gun, and the intruder fired. R. 43:9-44:3. She fled the car, went inside, and called 911. R. 44:4-13, 47:4-16. Before she was inside, she heard a second shot. R. 48:4-12. Tenika could not identify the shooter—she saw only "a black silhouette of someone." R. 47:19-25.

Ultimately Justice Brock, Fre'Dron Spann, and appellant were arrested for this crime. R. 189:11-190:3, 215:18-216:1. Brock and Spann made a deal and testified against appellant in exchange for reduced and dismissed charges. R. 189:18-190:3, 194:25-195:21, 250:23-251:24. Their sentencing was delayed until after trial because the sentences depended on their testimony. R. 195:17-24, 251:9:12. Both testified that on April 3, 2020, they were out robbing cars. R. 173:7-174:22, 218:14-220:1. Both testified they did this multiple times with appellant, who was with them that night. R. 173:7-174:22, 218:14-25. Both testified that late in the night appellant went down a driveway, opened a car door, and then they heard a gunshot and ran away. R. 178:13-179:4, 222:3-224:4.

Officers arrived on scene and found Smith deceased outside the passenger side of the car. R. 82:17-84:22. Ellen Reimer, a forensic pathologist, testified he had been shot in the left elbow and back of the neck. R. 163:14-19, 164:18-20.

Further factual details will be addressed below as relevant to each issue on appeal.

¹ Tenika Ragin is of no relation to appellant, although the solicitor forgot to ask this of her when she testified. R. 298:10-12.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Jury Instruction

Whether a given jury charge is an unconstitutional comment on the facts should be reviewed de novo on appeal as a question of law. The question is whether the charge given violates Article V, section 21 of the South Carolina Constitution. That section is a limitation on the judicial authority of this state, and as such its application raises a question of law just the same as similar provisions limiting the authority of the General Assembly and Executive. *See, e.g., City of Rock Hill v. Harris*, 391 S.C. 149, 154, 705 S.E.2d 53, 55 (2011). This Court reviews questions of law de novo. *See State v. Frasier*, 437 S.C. 625, 633-34, 879 S.E.2d 762, 766 (2022) (holding constitutional criminal procedure issues are reviewed de novo).

Admission of Testimony

"The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion." *State v. Odom*, 376 S.C. 330, 334, 656 S.E.2d 748, 750 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing *State v. Gaster*, 349 S.C. 545, 557, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 (2002)). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law." *State v. Pagan*, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006) (citing *State v. McDonald*, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000)).

Motion for a New Trial

"Generally, the grant or refusal of a new trial is within the trial [court]'s discretion" *State v. Thompson*, 420 S.C. 386, 404, 803 S.E.2d 44, 53 (Ct. App. 2017) (alteration original) (citation omitted).

ARGUMENT

I. The implied malice charge was an unconstitutional comment on the facts that can be raised on appeal without objection below.

- a. The charge given plainly violates *State v. Burdette*, 427 S.C. 490, 832 S.E.2d 575 (2019), and was error.

When charging the jury the elements of murder, the trial court instructed: "Inferred malice may also arise when the deed was done with a deadly weapon, which is any article or instrument which is likely to cause death or great bodily injury." R. 292:12-15. In *State v. Burdette* the trial court charged the jury, "Inferred malice may also arise when the deed is done with a deadly weapon." 427 S.C. at 494, 832 S.E.2d at 577. The Supreme Court held the charge is never proper:

A jury instruction that malice may be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon is an improper court-sponsored emphasis of a fact in evidence—that the deed was done with a deadly weapon—and it should no longer be permitted.

Burdette, 427 S.C. at 503, 832 S.E.2d at 582. *Burdette's* holding has been applied and re-affirmed several times since. *State v. Campbell*, 443 S.C. 182, 190-91, 904 S.E.2d 441, 445 (2024); *State v. Brooks*, 428 S.C. 618, 626, 837 S.E.2d 236, 240 (Ct. App. 2019); *State v. Franks*, 432 S.C. 58, 79-80, 849 S.E.2d 580, 591-92 (Ct. App. 2020).

Here, the trial court erroneously gave the implied malice charge.

- b. Pursuant to *State v. Orr*, 128 S.C. 279, 122 S.E. 771 (1924), an unconstitutional comment on the facts can be raised on appeal for the first time because it is a limitation on the judicial power itself.

Appellant's counsel did not object to the charge. However, article V, section 21 of the South Carolina Constitution is clear: "Judges shall not charge juries in respect to matters of fact, but shall declare the law." This provision "prohibit[s] courts from commenting to the jury on the facts of a case." *State v. Stukes*, 416 S.C. 493, 499, 787 S.E.2d 480, 483 (2016). "Accordingly, it is not within the province of the court to express an opinion to the jury on its view of the facts."

Id.; see generally *Norris v. Clinkscales*, 47 S.C. 488, 25 S.E. 797 (1896) (providing a detailed analysis and history of the then-newly adopted strict prohibition on charging the facts in any way and explaining the effect of its amendment from a prior version in which trial courts could "state the testimony").

In *State v. Orr*, 128 S.C. 279, 122 S.E. 771 (1924), the Supreme Court recognized the importance of this rule and its place in the constitution of our state. 128 S.C. at 280, 122 S.E. at 771. Thus, the Court held a challenge concerning the "constitutional prohibition as to a charge on the facts" need not be raised below to be challenged on appeal. 128 S.C. at 280, 122 S.E. at 771. In *Orr* the Court considered an appeal challenging the trial court's instruction on the facts without objection. *Id.* It reversed, holding:

It is said, however, that, if his honor misstated the issues, it was the duty of the defendant to call the attention of the court to it, and, not having done so, he cannot now complain. That is a rule of court and must give way to the constitutional prohibition as to a charge on the facts. This assignment of error must be sustained.

Id. Therefore, objections to a charge on the facts need not be raised below to be argued on appeal because the constitutional rule outweighs the general issue preservation requirement.

Appellant recognizes this rule has not been used since *Orr*. However, in virtually all recent comment-on-the-facts cases the jury instruction issue was preserved so the *Orr* rule was unnecessary to consider. See *State v. Brown*, 443 S.C. 196, 198, 904 S.E.2d 448, 449 (2024); *Campbell*, 443 S.C. at 191, 904 S.E.2d at 445; *State v. Stewart*, 433 S.C. 382, 386, 858 S.E.2d 808, 810 (2021); *State v. Smith*, 430 S.C. 226, 229, 845 S.E.2d 495, 496 (2020); *Burdette*, 427 S.C. at 493, 832 S.E.2d at 577; *Pantovich v. State*, 427 S.C. 555, 832 S.E.2d 596 (2019); *Stukes*, 416 S.C. at 497, 787 S.E.2d at 482; *State v. Witherspoon*, 418 S.C. 641, 642, 795 S.E.2d 685, 686 (2016); *State v. Cheeks*, 401 S.C. 322, 327, 737 S.E.2d 480, 483 (2013); *State v. Belcher*, 385 S.C. 597, 601, 685 S.E.2d 802, 804 (2009); *State v. Hughey*, 339 S.C. 439, 452, 529 S.E.2d 721, 728 (2000),

overruled in unrelated part by Rosemond v. Catoe, 383 S.C. 320, 680 S.E.2d 5 (2009); *State v. Roof*, 298 S.C. 351, 353, 380 S.E.2d 828, 829 (1989); *State v. Grant*, 275 S.C. 404, 406, 272 S.E.2d 169, 170 (1980); *Franks*, 432 S.C. at 80, 849 S.E.2d at 592; *Brooks*, 428 S.C. at 626, 837 S.E.2d at 240; *State v. Owens*, 427 S.C. 325, 329, 831 S.E.2d 126, 128 (Ct. App. 2019), *aff'd*, 433 S.C. 482, 860 S.E.2d 357 (2021); *State v. Huckabee*, 388 S.C. 232, 244, 694 S.E.2d 781, 787 (Ct. App. 2010). Appellant is unable to find any case where our appellate courts have found the issue unpreserved.

Although not expressly used in modern times, the *Orr* rule is a logical exception to the typical preservation requirements because it is a constitutional restriction directly on the judicial power of the trial courts. Article V establishes the judicial branch, and it empowers and limits the courts in specific ways, such as the prohibition in section 21 on factual commentary by the court. As a restriction on the actual judicial power itself, this constitutional rule must be more closely guarded than any other. *See Orr*, 128 S.C. at 280, 122 S.E. at 771. This is for good reason: "the real object of this clause of the constitution is to leave the decision of all questions of fact to the jury exclusively, uninfluenced by any expressions of opinion by the judge, whose position would very naturally add great weight to any opinion he might express upon any question of fact arising in a case." *State v. White*, 15 S.C. 381, 392 (1881). The separation of roles between judge and jury is the foundation of our justice system. *Sumter Tr. Co. v. Holman*, 134 S.C. 412, 132 S.E. 811, 817 (1926) ("The people of South Carolina have said that it is the province of the courts to state the law and of juries to determine the facts."); *see also* 64 Corpus Juris, *Trial* § 313, at 299 (1933) ("[I]t is the office of the judge to instruct the jury in points of law and of the jury to decide matters of fact."). Therefore, "the strict prohibition of the constitution" must be enforced because it is that important. *Norris*, 47 S.C. 488, 25 S.E. at 810; *see State v. Kennedy*, 272 S.C. 231, 234,

250 S.E.2d 338, 339 (1978) (applying this provision and stating, "A fundamental concept of our system of justice is that every person charged with a crime has an absolute right to a fair and impartial trial").

The rule also fairly represents modern practice in this area because on multiple occasions the Supreme Court has held a jury charge was or would be a comment on the facts despite the issue not being squarely presented on appeal. For example, in *State v. Cartwright*, 425 S.C. 81, 819 S.E.2d 756 (2018), the Court established a three-part test to determine when evidence of a defendant's attempted suicide is admissible as evidence of guilt, affirming the trial court's admission of the evidence in that case. 425 S.C. at 92-93, 819 S.E.2d at 762. It then went further and held that trial courts should not instruct the jury on evidence of a suicide, even though on appeal the defendant challenged solely the admission of the evidence. 425 S.C. at 90, 93, 819 S.E.2d at 760, 762. Similarly, in *Burdette* itself, the defendant had asserted only that his case fell within the narrower proscription established in *State v. Belcher*, 385 S.C. 597, 685 S.E.2d 802 (2009), "because there was evidence presented that could reduce, excuse, justify, or mitigate the homicide." *Burdette*, 427 S.C. at 493-94, 832 S.E.2d at 577. He did not challenge the wholesale impropriety of an inferred malice charge in every case; nonetheless the Court addressed the issue *after* holding there was evidence to reduce or mitigate the homicide and thus the charge was improper under *Belcher*. 427 S.C. at 495, 501-04, 832 S.E.2d at 578, 582-83.

Orr should also be upheld precisely because the issue preservation requirements are not new. The Court at the time of *Orr* regularly refused to address exceptions to jury charges on other issues which were not raised to the circuit court. *E.g.*, *Stanford v. Cudd*, 93 S.C. 367, 76 S.E. 986, 986 (1913) ("[W]e have frequently held that we can consider no question which was not presented to or decided by the circuit court."); *see also Morrison v. Mut. Benev. Ass'n of Chesterfield Cnty.*,

78 S.C. 398, 59 S.E. 27, 28 (1907) (citing *State v. Adams*, 68 S.C. 421, 47 S.E. 676 (1904)); *Adams*, 68 S.C. 421, 47 S.E. at 678-79 (citations omitted); *Smith v. S.C. & G.R.R.*, 62 S.C. 322, 40 S.E. 665, 665 (1902); *State v. Chiles*, 58 S.C. 47, 36 S.E. 496, 497 (1900) (citing *State v. Smith*, 57 S.C. 489, 35 S.E. 727, 728 (1900)); *Youngblood v. S.C. & Ga. R.R.*, 60 S.C. 9, 38 S.E. 232, 236 (1901). Nonetheless, the *Orr* Court recognized the general preservation requirement as "a rule of court"² that "must give way to the constitutional prohibition" in article V, section 21. 128 S.C. at 280, 122 S.E. at 771. That decision should not be easily discarded now. *State v. One Coin-Operated Video Game Mach.*, 321 S.C. 176, 181, 467 S.E.2d 443, 446 (1996) (citing the principle of stare decisis and stating, "we see no reason to revisit [the prior decision] today").

c. The implied malice charge is unconstitutional under article V, section 21.

Although the Court in *Burdette* expressly stated it was "decid[ing] this issue solely under the common law," 427 S.C. at 503, 832 S.E.2d at 582, the charge *is* an unconstitutional comment on the facts just as the charge was in *Stukes* because it "emphasizes the weight of [certain] evidence in the eyes of the jury," 416 S.C. at 499, 787 S.E.2d at 483. This charge violates article V, section 21 because "the force and effect, or weight and sufficiency, of testimony must be left exclusively to the jury, uninfluenced by any expression or intimation of opinion thereof by the circuit judge" *State v. Sowell*, 85 S.C. 278, 67 S.E. 316, 318 (1910)). "The jury being the sole judges of the facts, it is for them, and not for the judge, to say whether any inferences, and if so what, shall be drawn from the testimony" *State v. James*, 31 S.C. 218, 9 S.E. 844, 852 (1889); *see also*

² It is most likely that "rule of court" refers to Rule 11 of the Circuit Court Rules (1922), which required parties to submit requests to charge prior to argument. That Rule eventually became Rule 20, SCRCrimP. If the constitutional prohibition prevailed over the old court rule, it prevails over the new one as well. The constitution must be the supreme law; it cannot be altered nor its protections weakened by mere amendment to the rules of court. *Cf. Cooper v. Poston*, 326 S.C. 46, 483 S.E.2d 750, 751 (1997).

State v. Cannon, 49 S.C. 550, 27 S.E. 526, 531 (1897) ("The jury are the sole judges as to what fact has been proven, *as well as the value to be attached to any proven fact.*" (emphasis added)).

That the Court in *Burdette* chose to restrain itself to its "policy-making role under the common law," 427 S.C. at 503, 832 S.E.2d at 582, does not mean the instruction is constitutionally sound. Rather, it was an exercise of the "Court's firm policy to decline to rule on constitutional issues unless such a ruling is required." *In re McCracken*, 346 S.C. 87, 92, 551 S.E.2d 235, 238 (2001) (citing *Fairway Ford, Inc. v. Cnty. of Greenville*, 324 S.C. 84, 86, 476 S.E.2d 490, 491 (1996)). Because the Court could effectively forbid the use of the implied malice charge solely under the common law, it was not necessary to decide if the charge also violated article V, section 21.³ Nonetheless, the charge does violate the constitution because "the trial judge must refrain from all comment which tends to indicate his opinion as to the weight or sufficiency of evidence, the credibility of witnesses, the guilt of the accused, or as to the controverted facts." *Kennedy*, 272 S.C. at 234, 250 S.E.2d at 339 (first citing *State v. Pruitt*, 187 S.C. 58, 196 S.E. 371, 373 (1938), then citing S.C. Const. art. V, § 15 (a precursor to the current article V, section 21)). By instructing the jury that malice might be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon alone, the trial court "expresse[d] in his charge his own opinion upon the force and effect of the testimony, or of any part of it," and "intimate[d] his views of the sufficiency or insufficiency of the evidence in whole or in part." *Norris*, 47 S.C. 488, 25 S.E. 797, 806 (1896); *see also White*, 15 S.C. at 392 (reversing

³ This narrow approach may also be the natural extension of the Court's decision in *Belcher* to take the same approach. In *Belcher*, the defendant argued the implied malice charge was improper under the common law and under article V, section 21. 385 S.C. at 602, 685 S.E.2d at 804. Nonetheless, the *Belcher* Court also decided the issue "solely under the common law." *Id.* Then, when the Court came to revisit the issue in *Burdette*, it took the same route either for the same reason or because *Burdette* did not argue the charge is unconstitutional.

because the jury instructions had the "inevitable tendency . . . to incline the jury to take the same view of the character of the homicide as that taken by the presiding judge").

Moreover, the Court has since cited *Belcher* and *Burdette* in holding a "felony attempted-murder charge" was an improper jury instruction, referring to that charge as a "constitutional error." *State v. Smith*, 430 S.C. 226, 233, 845 S.E.2d 495, 498 (2020). Even though the Court did not explain which provision of the constitution was violated, the only reasonable conclusion is that it violates article V, section 21. *Id.*

For all these reasons, the implied malice charge violates the Constitution of South Carolina, and under *Orr* the issue can be raised on appeal without prior objection.

- d. The implied malice charge requires reversal because the use of a firearm was an integral part of the state's theory of malice.

When determining if an erroneous jury charge requires reversal, the question is whether the court can be confident "beyond a reasonable doubt that the error . . . did not contribute to the verdict." *State v. Otts*, 424 S.C. 150, 160, 817 S.E.2d 540, 546 (Ct. App. 2018) (quoting *State v. Middleton*, 407 S.C. 312, 317, 755 S.E.2d 432, 435 (2014)). The question is *not* whether the jury would still have convicted the defendant without the erroneous charge. *Id.* (quoting *Middleton*, 407 S.C. at 317, 755 S.E.2d at 435); *see also State v. Kerr*, 330 S.C. 132, 145, 498 S.E.2d 212, 218 (Ct. App. 1998) (same) (citing *State v. Jefferies*, 316 S.C. 13, 22, 446 S.E.2d 427, 432 (1994)); *State v. Stewart*, 433 S.C. 382, 392, 858 S.E.2d 808, 813 (2021) (same) (citation omitted).

Appellate courts should be hesitant to find improper comments on the facts harmless beyond a reasonable doubt:

It has long been recognized that even a slight remark, apparently innocent in its language, may, when uttered by the court, have a decided weight in shaping the opinion of the jury. Vested as the trial judge is, with superior authority, disinterested, and possessing experience not available to the ordinary layman, jurors,

as a rule, are anxious to catch his view, upon which to found their conclusions.

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