RECEIVED

Apr 08 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SUMTER COUNTY
Honorable Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-000444

THE STATE,RESPONDENT

v.

TRAVON DERRELL RAGIN,APPELLANT.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

P. SANDERS LINKER
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-0918

ERNEST A. FINNEY, III
Solicitor, Third Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. Appellant failed to object to the trial court’s instruction on implied malice and thus failed to preserve the issue for appeal. Furthermore, Appellant cannot rely on *State v. Orr*, 128 S.C. 279, 122 S.E. 771 (1924) to raise a constitutional argument not applicable to this case

Appellant argues the trial court gave an unconstitutional comment on the facts by instructing the jury: “[i]nferred malice may also arise when the deed was done with a deadly weapon, which is any article or instrument which is likely to cause death or great bodily injury.” (Tr. 365, ll. 12–15). Appellant plainly concedes that counsel failed to object to the charge. (Brief of Appellant at 5). Regardless of the apparent procedural bar, Appellant asks this Court to consider the improper implied malice charge as an unconstitutional comment on the facts based on the holding of *State v. Orr*, 128 S.C. 279, 122 S.E. 771 (1924)—where our Supreme Court bypassed the procedural bar and found a trial court’s instruction to the jury that they were “relieved of the necessity of determining whether or not there has been a homicide” since the defendant “admit[ted] that he slew the deceased with a deadly weapon [—the defendant claimed self-defense]” to be an unconstitutional comment on the facts, and reversed for a new trial. He argues that because the implied malice charge violates the South Carolina Constitution, the issue can be raised on appeal without prior objection per *Orr*:

Respondent contends that such an argument fails where the holding of *State v. Burdette* and its progeny was limited to finding such an implied malice instruction improper “solely under the common law; pursuant to our policy-making role under the common law . . .” 427 S.C. 490, 503, 832 S.E.2d 575, 582 (2019). These rulings were not constitutionally based. As such, Appellant cannot rely on *Orr* and similar cases to excuse the procedural default. This Court should affirm.

The charge at issue here was error. However, having failed to object to the charge at trial, Appellant argues now on appeal that the implied malice charge should be held to be an unconstitutional comment on the facts that requires reversal even in the absence of an objection—despite acknowledging that in almost every recent “comment-on-the-facts” case, the issue was properly preserved for review. (*See* Brief of Appellant at 6–7) (citations omitted). Appellant also acknowledges that *Orr* has not been applied since 1924—suggesting that *Orr* is more so an anomaly rather than a well-applied rule. *Id.* Even so, if applied, *Orr* was applicable only to a specific constitutional violation—not just a comment on the facts but an incorrect and highly prejudicial one as well. *See Orr*, 128 S.C. at 279, 122 S.E. at 771.

Accordingly, Appellant cannot overcome the fact that the prohibition of this implied malice charge was rooted solely in the common law and not in the constitutional limitation on comments on the facts. Consider the history of this issue.

First, in *State v. Belcher*, 385 S.C. 597, 685 S.E.2d 802 (2009), our Supreme Court held that an implied malice from the use of a deadly weapon instruction in a murder prosecution was inappropriate where “evidence is presented that would reduce, mitigate, excuse or justify the homicide.” *Id.* at 600, 685 S.E.2d at 804. In doing so, the Court abrogated a long line of cases that had found the instruction permissible in most instances. *Id.* at 602–10, 685 S.E.2d at 803–809 (citations omitted). However, the Court explicitly declined to make its ruling a constitutional one:

Belcher asserts the permissive inference charge violates our common law and our constitutional prohibition against charging juries on the facts.[] We elect to decide this appeal *solely under the common law*. *Relying on Belcher’s common law challenge*, we conclude that our modern day usage of this jury charge has strayed from this Court’s original jurisprudence.

Id. at 602, 685 S.E.2d at 804 (emphasis added, footnote omitted).⁵

Ten years later, in *State v. Burdette*, 427 S.C. 490, 832 S.E.2d 575 (2019), the Court expanded *Belcher* in holding that “regardless of the evidence presented at trial, a trial court shall no longer instruct a jury that malice may be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon.” *Id.* at 493, 832 S.E.2d at 577. In doing so, however, the Court again limited the scope of its decision: “We decide this issue solely under the common law; *pursuant to our policy-making role under the common law . . .*” *Id.* at 503, 832 S.E.2d at 583. Additionally, while noting the implied malice instruction was erroneous going forward, the Court still applied harmless error analysis and found the error in that case was not harmless when coupled with the trial court’s failure to instruct the jury that “malice was not an element of voluntary manslaughter.” *Id.* at 496–501, 832 S.E.2d at 578–82.

This Court should apply the procedural bar and reject Appellant’s attempt to expand the holding of *Burdette* and the cases that followed it. As conceded by Appellant, *Orr* has never been applied since 1924 to suggest that a constitutional limitation on commenting on the facts of a case can override a defendant’s failure to object to an improper jury charge. *Burdette* made it clear that the ruling on the implied malice instruction was premised on the Supreme Court’s policy-making role under the common law and it was not a constitutional ruling. Even so, irrespective of issue preservation, the cases just cited above show that such an error regarding the implied malice instruction would be subject to harmless error analysis. Since *Burdette*, other cases have held that giving the implied malice instruction was error, but such error was harmless. *See State v. Campbell*,

⁵ The Court reiterated its reliance on its policy-making role under the common law towards the end of the opinion: “Under our policy-making role in the common law, we hold that the ‘use of a deadly weapon’ implied malice instruction has no place in a murder . . . prosecution where evidence is presented that would reduce, mitigate, excuse or justify the killing . . .” *Id.* at 610, 685 S.E.2d at 809.

443 S.C. 182, 185–86, 904 S.E.2d 441, 442–43 (2024) (reversing court of appeals in finding that erroneous implied malice instruction was harmless in light of “overwhelming evidence of malice”); *State v. Franks*, 432 S.C. 58, 80–83, 849 S.E.2d 580, 592–93 (Ct. App. 2020) (finding erroneous instruction harmless where record contained no evidence jury was confused/misled by instruction, no evidence that would reduce/mitigate/excuse, or justify the homicide, and no conflicting evidence regarding shooter’s intent); *State v. Brooks*, 428 S.C. 618, 837 S.E.2d 236 (Ct. App. 2019) (same, instruction erroneous but harmless in light of other evidence of malice in the record).

In this case, the error would be harmless in light of other evidence of malice such as (1) the fact Victim was unarmed and posed no threat to Appellant, (2) the fact that Victim had no relations to Appellant and it was completely unnecessary to kill him in order to effectuate a robbery, and (3) the fact that Victim was attacked again while fleeing while posing no threat to Appellant. Despite Appellant’s contention, the use of the weapon itself was not the only evidence of malice in this case. Thus, no relief is due.

This Court should affirm.

II. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding Detective Hansen's opinion about Victim's movements permissible under Rule 701, SCRE where such an opinion was not an improper lay witness opinion and any such error would be harmless

Appellant, in two issues, argues that the trial court erred in admitting Detective Hansen's opinion testimony regarding Victim's movements as he was being killed based on the relative absence of dirt on Victim's socks and the location of shell casings on the scene. He argues that such testimony was not proper lay witness opinion testimony under Rule 701, SCRE. Respondent contends that such testimony was proper lay witness testimony where it was based on the rational perception of Hansen, was helpful to understanding his testimony or to the determination of a fact in issue, and did not require special knowledge, skill experience, or training. Furthermore, any error in the admission of such testimony would be harmless where both co-defendants testified to Appellant walking towards Victim's vehicle on the driver's side, hearing two gunshots, and then fleeing with Appellant trailing behind him, and where the cause and manner of Victim's death was not a serious issue in contention at trial. This Court should affirm.

A. Relevant Facts

Detective Hansen testified at trial about the crime scene and the investigation leading to Appellant's arrest. Relevant to this issue, Hansen testified to the position of Victim's body relative to the vehicle. Hansen emphasized the scene was undisturbed as he arrived. (Tr. 184–185). He continued:

Q. I want to show you State's Exhibit No. 7 and ask if you can identify it.

A. Yes, sir. This is a silver Chrysler 200 that [Victim] was driving that night.

Q. All right. And that is the position that you found [Victim] in when you got there that night?

A. Yes, sir. He was lying next to the passenger side of the vehicle with both driver and passenger doors open.

Q. Both doors open?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. All right. . . . By the time this picture was taken, had the evidence custodian located evidence near the body?

A. Yes, sir. There's the marker there marker 1.

Q. Marker 1 . . .

A. Yes, sir.

Q. . . . is near the body?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. All right.

A. And that was a cartridge casing or a shell casing.

(Tr. 185, ln. 9—Tr. 186, ln. 4).

At this point, the solicitor asked Hansen whether he could “tell from the position of the door and the position of the body whether [Victim] had gone around since . . . we heard that there was testimony that he was shot on the driver’s side of the car?” Hansen said that was correct. The solicitor also asked if Victim was found on the passenger side of the vehicle, which Hansen also confirmed. Appellant did not object to *either* of these exchanges. (Tr. 186, ll. 4–10). The solicitor continued:

Q. *Did you have any information that led you to believe how he got there?*

A. Yes, sir. So with both doors being open . . . one thing I noticed on the driver’s side was that his shoes, he had some slides, some sandals that were left on the driver’s floorboard, and one thing we noticed as well was the bottom of his socks . . . he had on white socks, and they were fairly bright white socks, and they were essentially clean, aside from the ball, or the area around his toes, *where we believe he ran a short distance, but what we believe is that he went from the driver’s seat where he was laying when the door opened and . . .*

(Tr. 186, ll. 11–22) (emphasis added).

At this point, Appellant objected as to “what he believes.” Judge Newman sustained the objection. (Tr. 186, ll. 23–25). The solicitor continued:

Q. Based on your observing the scene, did you examine the socks on the feet of [Victim]?

A. We did.

Q. All right. And I want to show you what’s marked as State’s Exhibit No. 12. Could you identify that?

A. Yes, sir, those are [Victim]’s white socks as he was wearing.

Q. All right. *And based on your examination of the feet of [Victim] that day, do you believe that he ran around the car to the passenger side?*

A. Not outside of the car. We don’t believe he got out and ran around.

Q. All right. What do you believe he got out and ran around.

(Tr. 187, ll. 1–14) (emphasis added).

At this point, Appellant made the same objection, which Judge Newman again sustained. The solicitor then asked why Hansen “believe[d] that [Victim] did not run around the car[,]” to which Hansen started to say “the limited amount of dirt on his . . .” before being interrupted by another objection. This time, Judge Newman overruled the objection. (Tr. 187, ll. 15–24). Hansen finished his statement, noting the “limited amount and small amount of dirt on the bottom of his socks.” The solicitor continued:

Q. All right. So your theory, as far as examining the evidence that you found at the scene, is how did he get on the passenger side?

A. Through the . . . over the center console, over the passenger seat, and then out of the open passenger door.

Q. Did you notate any evidence inside the vehicle that supported your theory that he crawled across the passenger seat?

A. There were phones that were scattered across the driver’s seat and passenger seat that was believed [sic] he went there.

(Tr. 188, ll. 1–13). The solicitor then clarified Hansen’s theory by asking whether he believed that Victim went through the car based on the blood on the passenger seat and the condition of Victim’s socks. Hansen said that was correct. He also confirmed that after going through the car, Victim ended up on the ground next to the passenger side of the vehicle. (Tr. 188, ln. 18—Tr. 189, ln. 6).

Relevant to Appellant’s second issue regarding this testimony, Hansen later opined that evidence supported the idea that Victim was further injured after he was on the ground based on the shell casing found near his body on the passenger side of the vehicle and the gunshot wound to the back of his head. (Tr. 189–192). The solicitor continued:

Q. Could you . . . decipher from an injury where the shooter was and where the victim was?

A. *Based on shell casings, the first shot would have been on the driver’s side. The second shot would have been on the passenger’s side as Mr. Smith was fleeing, running from the car.*

(Tr. 192, ll. 13–18) (emphasis added). At this point Appellant objected on the basis that Hansen was not qualified as an expert in crime scene reconstruction. Judge Newman overruled the objection, stating that Appellant had objected after Hansen had already answered. (Tr. 192, ll. 19–24).

B. Discussion

Rule 701, SCRE provides:

If the witness is not testifying as an expert, the witness’ testimony in the form of opinions or inferences is limited to those opinions or inferences which (a) are rationally based on the perception of the witness, (b) are helpful to a clear understanding of the witness’ testimony or the determination of a fact in issue, and (c) do not require special knowledge, skill, experience or training.

Our courts have previously held that Rule 701 allowed an officer to testify that they observed what they believed to be a bite mark on a defendant. *See State v. Cauthen*, 447 S.C. 45, 53–54, 923 S.E.2d 655, 660 (Ct. App. 2025); *accord State v. McClinton*, 265 S.C. 171, 176–77,

217 S.E.2d 584, 586 (1975). Both courts held that such statements were opinions of laymen based on their personal observations and did not require specialized knowledge or training. *Cauthen*, 447 S.C. at 53, 923 S.E.2d at 660 (citing *McClinton*, 265 S.C. at 176–77, 217 S.E.2d at 586); *see also State v. Gibbs*, 438 S.C. 542, 547–53, 885 S.E.2d 378, 381–84 (2023) (holding that testimony explaining the operation of a single action revolver vs. a double action revolver was a “rudimentary explanation” that did not require expert testimony, and court of appeals was correct in not relying on Rule 701 given simplistic nature of testimony)

In contrast, our Supreme Court held in *State v. Pickrell* that an investigator’s testimony regarding “various ejection patterns of a semi-automatic pistol” was inadmissible absent an expert qualification. 443 S.C. 497, 500–504, 905 S.E.2d 374, 375–77 (2024). The Court also held that another investigator’s testimony to the effect of stating that he had “trouble understanding” the defendant’s account of a shooting was also improper lay witness testimony under Rule 701. *Id.* at 501–503, 905 S.E.2d at 376–77. However, the Court found both errors harmless in light of the fact that the location of the shooting was not in dispute (the defendant argued self-defense), and the existence of other corroborating testimony regarding the defendant’s account to law enforcement by another investigator. *Id.* at 500–504, 905 S.E.2d at 375–77.

In the present case, the record thoroughly supports the assertion that Detective Hansen’s opinion regarding Victim’s movements was rationally based on his own personal observations, was helpful to the trier of fact, and did not require special knowledge or training. First, the opinion on Victim’s movements from the driver’s seat to the ground next to the passenger side of the vehicle via the front passenger door based on the relative absence of dirt on Victim’s white socks was perfectly reasonable. Considering the fact both doors were opened, the fact Victim was initially in the driver’s seat, the fact that Ms. Ragin was in the front passenger seat and fled

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